IZMIR KATIP CELEBI UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL AND APPLIED SCIENCES

## ENHANCEMENT OF THE ELECTRICAL PROPERTIES OF GRAPHENE FOR ELECTRONIC DEVICES

**M.Sc. THESIS** 

**Gulsum ERSU** 

**Department of Material Science and Engineering** 

Thesis Advisor: Asst. Prof. Fethullah GUNES

**FEBRUARY 2018** 

IZMIR KATIP CELEBI UNIVERSITY

G. ERSU

## IZMIR KATIP CELEBI UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL AND APPLIED SCIENCES

## ENHANCEMENT OF THE ELECTRICAL PROPERTIES OF GRAPHENE FOR ELECTRONIC DEVICES

**M.Sc. THESIS** 

Gulsum ERSU (Y130111028)

**Department of Material Science and Engineering** 

Thesis Advisor: Asst. Prof. Fethullah GUNES

FEBRUARY 2018

# İZMİR KATİP ÇELEBİ ÜNİVERSİTESİ FEN BİLİMLERİ ENSTİTÜSÜ

# ELEKTRONİK CİHAZLAR İÇİN GRAFENİN ELEKTRİKSEL ÖZELLİKLERİNİN GELİŞTİRİLMESİ

YÜKSEK LİSANS TEZİ

Gülsüm ERSÜ (Y130111028)

Malzeme Bilimi ve Mühendisliği Ana Bilim Dalı

Tez Danışmanı: Yrd. Doç. Dr. Fethullah GÜNEŞ

**ŞUBAT 2018** 

Gulsum ERSU, a M.Sc. student of IKCU Graduate School Of Natural And Applied Sciences, successfully defended the thesis entitled "ENHANCEMENT OF THE ELECTRICAL PROPERTIES OF GRAPHENE FOR ELECTRONIC DEVICES", which she prepared after fulfilling the requirements specified in the associated legislations, before the jury whose signatures are below.

Thesis Advisor :

Asst. Prof. Dr.Fethullah GUNES	
İzmir Katip Çelebi University	

**Jury Members :** 

Asst. Prof. Dr. Ahmet AYKAC İzmir Katip Çelebi University Asst. Prof. Dr. Seckin ERDEN Ege University

Date of Submission: 06.03.2018Date of Defense: 06.02.2018

.....

.....

v

To my loving family,

### FOREWORD

Firstly, I would like to thank my parents for their patience, support, and prayers during this time. I am especially grateful for their encouragement on whatever I decided to go for.

I would like to thank my advisor Asst. Prof. Fethullah Güneş for all his help, teaching and giving me an opportunity to do experimental research in his lab. I also would like to thank him for confidence me and giving me responsibility.

I would like to thank the committee members of my thesis for their participation.

Thanks to Asst. Prof. Ahmet Aykaç and Asst. Prof. Mustafa Erol for keeping their doors open when I needed help during my thesis completion process and for their helpful advice.

I am thankful to Dr. Caner Karakaya for his contributions.

February 2018

Gülsüm ERSÜ

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

### Page

FOREWORD	ix
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
ABBREVIATIONS	vii
SYMBOLS	ix
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	xiii
ABSTRACT	
ÖZFT	vvii
	<b>I</b>
1.1 Graphene	1
1.2 Morphological Structure of Graphene	2
1.3 Electronic Structure of Graphene	
1.4 Properties and Applications of Graphene	5
1.5 Graphene Production	6
1.5.1 Mechanical and chemical extoliation	6
1.5.2 Epitaxial growth on silicon carbide	8
1.5.3 Chemical vapor deposition (CVD)	9
2. GROWTH AND CHARACTERIZATION OF GRAPHENE	
2.1 Synthesis Flexible and Transparent Conductive Graphene Film	
2.2 Materials and Methods	
2.2.1 Pre-treatment of copper foil	
2.2.2 Preparation of monolaver graphene film	
2.2.3 Transfer process of graphene film	14
2.2.4 Characterization	15
2.3 Results and Discussion	16
2.3.1 Effect of pre-treatment process	16
2.3.2 Characterization of the CVD-graphene film	19
3. CONTROLLING THE ELECTRONIC PROPERTIES OF GRAPHE	NE 27
3.1 Electronic Modulation of Graphene via Doping Method	27
3.2 Materials and Methods	
3.3 Characterization	
3.4 Results and Discussion	
4. CONCLUSION	

REFERENCES	
CURRICULUM VITAE	

# ABBREVIATIONS

0D	: Zero-dimensional
1D	: One-dimensional
2D	: Two-dimensional
3D	: Three-dimensional
CNT	: Carbon nanotubes
OLED	: Organic light-emitting diodes
FET	: Field-effect transistors
HOPG	: Highly oriented pyrolytic graphite
GO	: Graphene oxide
rGO	: Reduced graphene oxides
SiC	: Silicon Carbide
LED	: Light emitting devices
CVD	: Chemical vapor deposition
TCF	: Transparent conductive film
LCD	: Liquid crystal display
PMMA	: Poly(methylmethacrylate)
APCVD	: Atmospheric pressure chemical vapor deposition
CH <sub>4</sub>	: Methane
$H_2$	: Hydrojen
Ar	: Argon
PET	: Polyethylene terephthalate
CMP	: Chemical-mechanical polish
MFC	: Mass flow controller
FeCl <sub>3</sub>	: Iron (III) chloride
DI	: Deionized water
$N_2$	: Nitrogen
sccm	: Standart cubic centimeters per minute
IPA	: Isopropyl alcohol
ОМ	: Optical microscope
AFM	: Atomic force microscope

RMS	: Root mean square
FWHM	: Full-width half-minimum
Rs	: Sheet resistance
TCE	:Transparent conductive electrode
Т	: Transmittance
номо	: Highest occupied molecular level
LUMO	: Lowest unoccupied molecular level
SAMs	: Self-assembled monolayers
F-PBA	: 4-Fluorophenyl boronic acid
2F-PBA	: 3,4-Difluorophenyl boronic acid
3M-PBA	: 3,4,5-Trimethoxyphenyl boronic acid
BF3	: Boron trifluoride dimethyl etherate
TPA	: 4,4"-bis(diphenylamino)-1,1':3',1"-terphenyl
CAR	: 4,4"-di-9H-carbazol-9-yl-1,1':3',1"-terphenyl
DMF	: N,N-Dimethylformamide
DMSO	: Dimethyl sulfoxide

### SYMBOLS

$v_F$	: Fermi velocity
$\vec{k}$	: Wave vector
ħ	: Planck's constant
$\sigma_{DC}$	: Conductivity
$\sigma_{OP}$	: Optical conductivity
Τ	: Transmittance
Rs	: Sheet resistance
ρ	: Resistivity
t	: Thickness
σ	: Conductivity
q	: Electron charge
n	: Carrier density
μ	: Mobility

### LIST OF TABLES

### Page

<b>Table 2.1 :</b>	Transmitta	nce, sheet re	sistance, an	$d \sigma_{DC}/\sigma_{OP}$	values for	or the layer-	by-layer
	graphene	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••		
<b>Table 3.1 :</b>	Electrical p	properties of	graphene de	oped with	various c	oncentratio	ns. <b> 35</b>

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 : a	Allotropes of carbon namely Graphene, Fullerene, Carbon nanotube, nd Graphite [1]1
Figure 1.2 : ( a c	(a) Electronic configuration of sp2 hybridized (b) sp2 hybridized carbon nd its orbital structure, (c) crystal structure of the graphene which ontains two carbon atoms in a unit cell
Figure 1.3 : I	Electronic band structure of graphene [24]
Figure 1.4 : l la p	Procedure of mechanically exfoliated graphene and optical image of few ayer graphene (dark purple contrast) and single-layer graphene (lighter purple contrast). Image cited from [58]7
Figure 1.5 : p R	Schematic representation of the graphene oxide synthesis by liquid- hase exfoliation (top-right) and reduction method (bottom-right). Reproduced from Ref.[59, 62]
<b>Figure 1.6 :</b> 5	Schematic representation of epitaxial graphene growth on SiC. The blue broken line is the electrically ineffective buffer layer [71]9
<b>Figure 1.7 :</b> o	Schematic representation of the CVD mechanisms of graphene growth on Cu foil
Figure 2.1 :	(a) and (b) the digital image of chemical vapor deposition (CVD) ystem. (1) split tube furnace, (2) reaction chamber, (3) mass flow ontroller
Figure 2.2 il	: The time-dependent growth parameters used in this study and llustration of graphene growth process on Cu foil by CVD
Figure 2.3 : 7	Transfer procedure of graphene film
Figure 2.4 : 1	Images of characterization devices16
Figure 2.5 : 5	Schematic procedure of the sample preparation by CMP method 17
Figure 2.6 st	: (a) Digital images of Cu foils after the annealing and polishing reatment and optical images of (b) pristine, (c) pre-annealed and (d) polished Cu foils. Scale bars are $100 \ \mu m$
Figure 2.7 :	3D AFM topography image of the Cu surface (a) before and (b) after olishing, roughness mean square is abbreviated as RMS
Figure 2.8 : C	Optical images of graphene grown on (a) unpolished-Cu and (b) CMP- Cu. Graphene films were transfered on Si/SiO <sub>2</sub> <b>19</b>
Figure 2.9 : I H a a	Raman spectrum of transferred graphene films (a) grown at the different $I_2$ flow rate, (b) plot of $I_{2D}/I_G$ and $I_D/I_G$ ratios as a function of $H_2$ mount, (c) grown at the different CH <sub>4</sub> flow, (d) corresponding $I_{2D}/I_G$ nd $I_D/I_G$

Figure 2.10 : (a) Raman spectra of transferred graphene. The insert shows the
Lorentzian fitting of 2D peak. The insert shows the 2D peak fitted by
Lorentzian peaks. (b) Optical image of transferred graphene film.
Arrows show incomplete adlayers (c) Raman mapping images of
graphene for 2D peak as indicated from the image (b) with the dotted
square $(25 \times 21 \text{ um}^2)$
Figure 2.11 : Optical transmittance of graphene film transferred on PET substrate. 23
Figure 2.12 : Photographs of of graphene films with from 1 layer to 4 layers on PET.
Figure 3.1 : (a) covalent, (b) non-covalent modification of graphene, (c) band
structure of intrinsic, p-type and n-type graphene
Figure 3.2 : Structure illustration of self-assembly monolayers (SAMs)29
Figure 3.3 : SEM images of pristine graphene film. The white arrows indicate the
wrinkles
Figure 2.4. Chamical structures of SAMs 21
Figure 3.4 : Chemical structules of SAMs
Figure 3.5 : The raman spectrum obtained from pristine and modified graphene with
different SAMs molecules a) the G (left) and 2D (right) bands (b) effect
of doping on Raman G and 2D band position (c) intensity ratio
<b>Figure 3.6</b> • (a) Sheet carrier density (b) mobility and conductivity of doned and
undered graphene
unuopeu graphene
Figure 4.1 : Photography of the graphene film

## ENHANCEMENT OF THE ELECTRICAL PROPERTIES OF GRAPHENE FOR ELECTRONIC DEVICES

#### ABSTRACT

Graphene, a one-atom-thick two-dimensional material, has drawn great interest for many electronic and optoelectronic applications due to its extraordinary properties. The properties of the graphene can be modified with different chemical methods and introduced new properties, which widens its potential for applications. The noncovalent modification of graphene is one of the basic techniques for modifying the electrical properties of graphene without disrupting the structure.

In this thesis, the high-quality graphene has been synthesized and electrical properties of graphene have been tuned by using self-assembly monolayers (SAMs). For graphene synthesis, copper foil pre-treatment was performed using the mechanical-chemical polishing method. Afterwords, graphene films were synthesized on pre-cleaned copper foil by atmospheric pressure chemical vapor deposition under the optimized conditions. It was found that copper surface and growth conditions play a significant role in high quality graphene growth. Additionally, sheet resistance and mobility of graphene were measured by Hall Effect measurement system. The sheet resistance of graphene was found about 718  $\Omega$ /sq with 96.8% of transmittance. Furthermore, obtained graphene was doped with surface transfer method using various SAMs including 4-Fluorophenyl boronic acid, 3,4-Difluorophenyl boronic acid, 3,4,5-Trimethoxyphenyl boronic acid, Boron trifluoride dimethyl etherate, TPA and CAR. It has been found that SAMs modify the density of its charge carriers, thus, the electrical properties of graphene films have been altered. As a result, depending on the type of SAMs the carrier type of graphene can controllably be changed from p-type to n-type and the electrical properties of graphene could be modified by several SAMs. We believed that this study could open up a wide range of possibilities for electronic and optoelectronic applications.

## ELEKTRONİK CİHAZLAR İÇİN GRAFENİN ELEKTRİKSEL ÖZELLİKLERİNİN GELİŞTİRİLMESİ

### ÖZET

Bir atom kalınlığında iki boyutlu bir malzeme olan grafen, olağanüstü özelliklerinden dolayı elektronik ve optoelektronik uygulamalarda kullanılmak üzere büyük ilgi görmektedir. Bant boşluğu bulunmayan grafene yeni özellikler katmak yada varolan özelliklerini uygulamalar için istenilen seviyeye getirmek son zamanlarda çalışılan önemli bir konudur. Yüzey aktarımı yoluyla katkılama, kovalent olmayan bir bağ kurarak ve yapıyı bozmadan grafenin elektriksel özelliklerini değiştirmek için kullanılan temel yöntemlerden biridir.

Bu tez çalışmasında santimetre ölçekli, yüksek kalitede grafen filmler kimyasal buhar biriktirme yöntemi ile sentezlenmiş ve çeşitli tek katman olabilen moleküller kullanılarak elektriksel özellikleri değiştirilmiştir. Öncelikle, bakır folyo, mekanikkimyasal parlatma yöntemi kullanılarak hazırlanmıştır. Daha sonra grafen, hazırlanan bu bakır folyolar üzerinde atmosferik basınçta kimyasal buhar biriktirme yöntemi kullanılarak sentezlenmiştir. Sentezlenen filmler analiz edilmek için farklı altlıklar üzerine transfer edilmiştir. Yapılan analiz çalışmaları sonucunda bakır yüzeyinin ve büyüme koşullarının grafenin büyümesinde önemli bir rol oynadığı belirlenmiştir. Ek olarak, grafenin levha direnci ve hareketliliği Hall Effect ölçüm cihazı kullanılarak ölcülmüstür. Sentezlenen grafenin levha direnci vaklasık 718  $\Omega$ /sq ve optik geçirgenliği % 96.8 bulunmuştur. Daha sonra, yüzey transfer yöntemiyle grafen filmlere kendi kendine tek katman olabilen (SAM) molekülleri kullanılarak katkılama yapılmıştır. Kullanılan 4-Florofenil boronik asit, 3,4- Diflorofenil boronik asit, 3,4,5-Trimetoksifenil boronik asit, Bor trifluorür dietil eterat, TPA ve CAR SAM moleküllerinin grafenin yük taşıyıcılarının yoğunluğunu değiştirdiği ve dolayısıyla grafen filmlerin elektriksel özelliklerini değiştirdiği belirlenmiştir. Sonuç olarak, SAM moleküllerinin türüne bağlı olarak grafenin taşıyıcı türünün kontrollü olarak p-tipinden n-tipe dönüştürülebilir olduğu ve grafenin elektriksel özelliklerinin SAM ile modifiye edilebilir olduğu bulunmuştur. Sonuçlarımız, grafenin elektriksel özelliklerinin başarıyla değiştirildiğini ayrıca elektronik ve optoelektronik uygulamalar için uygun bir malzeme olarak kullanılabileceğini göstermektedir.

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Graphene

Graphene is a one-atom-thick two-dimensional (2D) sheets of hexagonal sp<sup>2</sup>hybridized carbon atoms. The honeycomb network of this unique material is a basic model of the three-dimensional (3D) graphite, one-dimensional (1D) carbon nanotubes (CNT) and zero-dimensional (0D) fullerenes, which are different types of carbon allotropes (Figure 1.1).



**Figure 1.1 :** Allotropes of carbon namely Graphene, Fullerene, Carbon nanotube, and Graphite [1].

The first graphene was obtained by mechanical exfoliation of graphite in 2004. With this method, single and few-layer graphene flakes were formed which could be easily separated using a sticky tape [2]. It has been gaining appreciable attention from many research areas due to remarkable properties of such as electrical, mechanical, optical and thermal [3-5]. Graphene is the thinnest and also the strongest material ever

discovered, even though it is a single atom thick which makes it a highly transparent material absorbing only 2.3% of visible light [5-7]. This light-weight material has also other important features like high electron mobility, super-hydrophobicity, high elasticity and thermal conductivity [8-10]. Graphene can be classified as a semimetal or zero-gap semiconductor of which the electrons behave as massless Dirac fermions [4, 11]. With these extraordinary properties, it has a high potential in many applications such as integrated circuits [12], sensors [13], transistors [14, 15], energy storage devices [16, 17], flexible and transparent electronic applications for solar cells and touch screens [18, 19].

#### **1.2 Morphological Structure of Graphene**

Graphene lattice, a 2D layers of carbon atoms packed in a honeycomb structure, is originated from the covalent bonding properties of carbon element in the group IV of the periodic table. Carbon element has 6 electrons and its electronic configuration denoted as 1s<sup>2</sup>2s<sup>2</sup>2p<sup>2</sup>, of which the four electrons are valence electrons. In such kind of electronic configuration carbon can be hybridized to form more stable compounds and results in different hybrid orbitals such as  $sp^2$  and  $sp^3$  hybridization. In  $sp^2$ hybridization, the s-orbital and two p-orbitals  $(2p_x, 2p_y)$ , are situated in the second energy level of carbon, creating three equivalent hybridized  $sp^2$  orbitals, and one  $2p_z$ orbital remained unhybridized (Figure 1.2 a). Therefore, each carbon atom has three closest neighbours which bonded to the other three carbon atoms through the  $sp^2$ hybridized orbitals and constitutes short-strong covalent  $\sigma$ -bonds between adjacent atoms in the lattice of graphene. These strong molecular bonds keep graphene as a 2D-layer and also responsible for the mechanical strength (Figure 1.2 b). The remaining  $2p_z$  orbital which is unhybridized creates relatively long and diffusing  $\pi$ bonds with nearest carbon atoms and is perpendicular to the molecular plane. These bonds form electron cloud and responsible for controlling the interaction between different graphene layers. The lattice of the graphene in Figure 1.2 c shows that two sublattices, A and B, so the two atoms in each basic unit cell form the honeycomb lattice. The carbon-carbon bond distance is approximately 1.42Å and the two lattice vectors can be described as follows as [11, 20-22]:

$$a_1 = \frac{a}{2} (3, \sqrt{3}), \qquad a_2 = \frac{a}{2} (3, -\sqrt{3})$$
 (1.1)



**Figure 1.2 :** (a) Electronic configuration of sp2 hybridized (b) sp2 hybridized carbon and its orbital structure, (c) crystal structure of the graphene which contains two carbon atoms in a unit cell.

#### **1.3 Electronic Structure of Graphene**

Graphene has unusual electronic properties due to its unique band structure. As have been discussed in the previous section, each carbon atom has a remaining one  $p_z$  electron, which is perpendicular to the planar structure, and they bind with one of the three closest carbon atoms, causing the formation of a half filled  $\pi$  bond.

In graphene unit cell, there are two atoms because of two different orientation of  $\pi$ bonds. The energy dispersion of  $\pi$ -electrons are divided into two bands as bonding  $\pi$ electrons (the lower energy valence band) and the anti-bonding  $\pi^*$ -electrons (the higher energy conduction band) due to interaction among the atoms. Low-energy electronic band structure of graphene, which was described first by P.R. Wallace [23], is determined by these  $\pi$  and  $\pi^*$  bands (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3 : Electronic band structure of graphene [24].

The  $\pi$  and  $\pi^*$  bands stay equal in energy because they are indistinctive at Fermi energy and also touch at six points in the Brillouin zone causing two conical K and K'. These points are called the Dirac or neutrality points and constitute excellent Dirac cones. Therefore graphene is generally referred as a semimetal or a zero gap semiconductor with a long-wavelength energy distribution. Charge carriers in graphene are identified by Dirac equation due to the linear dispersion of the bands:

$$E = \pm \mathcal{V}_{\mathrm{F}} \hbar \left| \vec{k} \right| \tag{1.2}$$

where the  $\mathcal{V}_{\rm F}$  is the Fermi velocity (10<sup>6</sup> m/s) which is energy-independent and nearly 300 times smaller than the speed of light,  $\vec{k}$  is the wave vector and  $\hbar$  is Planck's constant [25-27]. From this equation, it is understood that the graphene has a linear distribution correlation, which is a characteristic of zero-mass particles as photons. Accordingly, the electrons act as massless Dirac fermions moving at the Fermi speed throughout the graphene lattice.

#### **1.4 Properties and Applications of Graphene**

The electrons have extra quantum confinement due to absence of the third dimension and this gives graphene various unique properties in many ways. One of the most extraordinary properties of the graphene is that electrons behave as massless particles or Dirac fermions. The carrier moves in the lattice with little scattering and so graphene sheets conduct electricity very well [2, 28, 29]. Since the graphene system possesses a zero band gap that let electrons to move easily without a need of energy input, it shows abnormal quantum hall effect and high mobility (>200,000  $\text{cm}^2/\text{V.s}$ ). High field effect mobility and sensitivity to the field effect provide graphene to be used in ultra-high speed electronics as an alternative to carbon nanotube or silicon being used in modern technology [30, 31]. Furthermore, graphene is a very attractive material for mechanical reinforcement in composite applications due to mechanical strength (>1 TPa) of which ~200 times greater than steel. This makes graphene a high-quality composite material increasing the conductivity and strength of bulk materials along with their durability to heat and pressure [5, 32, 33]. Graphene-based composites could be used instead of materials used in many areas today such as medical implants, engineering materials for the aviation industry and renewable materials. Large specific surface area (~2630 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup>), ultra high loading capacity and non-toxicity of graphene makes it a good candidate for drug delivery systems and biosensors [34]. Since graphene is highly sensitive to different gas molecules, it is possible to use it as a gas sensor for H<sub>2</sub>, O<sub>2</sub> H<sub>2</sub>O, Cl<sub>2</sub>, CO, NO<sub>2</sub>, SO<sub>2</sub>, heavy metal ions and vapor of volatile organic compounds [35-37]. Interactions between electrons and the graphene lattice makes it highly transparent, with an absorption of  $\sim 2.3\%$  for a visible light, flexible and strong. Accordingly, graphene has been examined in lithium-ion batteries, supercapacitors, solar cell, energy harvesting system, flexible and stretchable devices [38-40]. Graphene can be added to various battery devices, both as the anode or the cathode, so as to improve the performance of the system and enhance the charge/discharge cycle ratio [41]. The extreme variety of the physical and chemical properties of graphene has also been studied in flexible devices including photovoltaics, organic light-emitting diodes (OLEDs) and field-effect transistors (FETs) [42]. Graphene is used as a thermal interface material due to high thermal conductivity [43, 44].

The graphene's wavelength-independent absorption and high mobilities allow the application over a large spectral range from ultraviolet to infrared compared to the conventional semiconductor photodetectors. Schall et.al demonstrated 6" wafer-scale graphene photodetector with a bandwidth larger than 76 GHz [45]. The compound of extraordinary properties of graphene opens the wide range of applications to overcome many restrictions of current materials in academic and industrial research.

#### **1.5 Graphene Production**

The current popularity of graphene in scientific research began in 2004 with A.K. Geim and K.S. Novoselov and his colleagues who reported for the first time that the graphene was synthesized using a simple adhesive tape [2, 8]. Although graphene was first theoretically investigated by Wallace in 1947, thin graphitic layers were experimentally synthesized on transition metal surfaces in the late 1970s [23] [46, 47]. In 1975, B. Lang et al.demonstrated structure of few-layer graphite using thermal decomposition methods however, it was not defined as graphene. [48, 49]. In 1999, Ruoff and co-workers attempted to produce graphitic flakes with mechanical exfoliation of HOPG (Highly Oriented Pyrolytic Graphite) but they did not report the electrical characterization of this material [50].

Graphene has a great attention for a while therefore many researchers have worked on different graphene synthesis methods for so long. In general, graphene has been produced or synthesized by two different approaches; top-down and bottom-up. The top-down approach is a breaking down of bulk graphitic materials into smaller ones (such as mechanical or chemical exfoliation and reduction methods). In the bottomup approach, graphene is synthesized from atomic scale carbon-precursors through a set of chemical reactions (e.g. epitaxial growth and chemical vapor deposition) [51-53].

#### 1.5.1 Mechanical and chemical exfoliation

After the discovery of graphene, the micromechanical cleavage method, top-down approach, have become the most commonly applied method. This method is based on separating different graphene layers from a bulk graphite. Graphite which is stacked layers of many graphene sheets has large lattice spacing in the perpendicular direction (3.35 Å) and a weak van der Waals force (2  $eV/nm^2$ ) [54, 55]. Therefore

graphene can be produced from graphite by exfoliation using a simple sticky-tape and can be used in high-quality, defect-free graphene synthesis (Figure 1.4). This technique known as Scotch tape method generally used for research purposes because it is relatively inexpensive and offers 5 to 10  $\mu$ m sized high-quality graphene films. On the other hand, glue residues can remain on the substrate and this method is not suitable for graphene synthesis in larger amounts. The quality of the graphene is very high in this technique nevertheless, the technique is not suitable for the massproduction. [56, 57]. This has motivated the search for alternative techniques for the large area graphene applications in the field of nanotechnology.



**Figure 1.4 :** Procedure of mechanically exfoliated graphene and optical image of few layer graphene (dark purple contrast) and single-layer graphene (lighter purple contrast). Image cited from [58].

Graphene can be produced by the different way of exfoliation (i.e. liquid-phase exfoliation, chemical reduction) in order to obtain a much higher amount of graphene (Figure 1.5). For example, sonication of graphite in water or in a solvent with almost the same surface energy as graphite leads to a stable suspension of graphene oxide (GO). The main idea behind this method is overcoming the van der Waals forces between the graphitic basal planes and reducing the energy barrier so that separating graphene layers from bulk graphite. The obtained GO layers can be chemically reduced to graphene sheets which known as reduced graphene oxides (rGO). Although, this method may be suitable for the mass production of graphene, the purity of produced rGOs is very low compared to pristine graphene and the number of defects is quite high, due to the oxidation and reduction procedures [59-61].



**Figure 1.5 :** Schematic representation of the graphene oxide synthesis by liquidphase exfoliation (top-right) and reduction method (bottom-right). Reproduced from Ref.[59, 62].

#### 1.5.2 Epitaxial growth on silicon carbide

Although the mechanical exfoliation method is used to examine the properties of the graphene, it is necessary to obtain high-quality monolayer or few-layers graphene for electronic applications. Epitaxial growth of graphene surface is one of the most popular techniques for enlarging the size of graphene films [63]. The basic mechanism of epitaxial growth of graphene is shown in Figure 1.6 [64]. The epitaxial graphene refers to thermal graphitization of a silicon carbide (SiC) surface under high temperature (>1100 °C) and ultra-high vacuum. Under these conditions, silicon atoms sublimate from SiC substrate due to the vapor pressure difference between silicon and carbon, resulting in carbon-rich surface transforming into an epitaxial layer of graphene at the surface [65-67]. Epitaxial graphene grown on SiC, has attracted the attention in electronic applications such as high-frequency electronics [30], FETs, light emitting devices (LED) [68] etc. With this method, the synthesized graphene does not need to be transferred to another substrate for device fabrication and thus it can be easily patterned. However, epitaxial graphene is restricted by the cost and size of the crystal substrates [69, 70].



**Figure 1.6 :** Schematic representation of epitaxial graphene growth on SiC. The blue broken line is the electrically ineffective buffer layer [71].

#### 1.5.3 Chemical vapor deposition (CVD)

For future applications, graphene synthesis is crucial to be in high-quality, largesizes, easily obtainable and transferable to various substrates. Chemical vapor deposition (CVD) on polycrystalline transition metal catalysts such as Ni, Pd, Ru, or Cu is the most convenient method among all methods for graphene synthesis [72-74]. CVD methods include 3 steps: i) decomposition of carbon source, ii) adsorption, and iii) diffusion of molecules for the creation of a stable solid deposit on the catalyst. In the CVD process, high temperatures and a metal catalyst substrate are needed to provide the amount of energy required for breaking the carbon bonds (C-C = 347 $kjmol^{-1}$ , C=C = 614  $kjmol^{-1}$ , C=C = 839  $kjmol^{-1}$ , C-H = 413  $kjmol^{-1}$ ). Furthermore, the metal catalyst substrate should be annealed at high temperature for expanding its grain size [75]. During the synthesis an inert gas (argon or nitrogen), hydrogen and carbon source are used. Hydrogen is used for catalyzing the reaction between the metal catalyst and the carbon source, thus carbon atoms that result from the decomposition of carbon source are precipitated onto the metal substrate via surface absorption and then form graphene layers [76]. Following the reaction, the furnace is cooled down to reduce carbon solubility on the substrate and the carbon atoms diffused out so that the precipitated carbon atom is prevented from becoming bulk graphite [77]. In CVD method, copper (Cu) and nickel (Ni) are mostly used catalyst substrates, and the growth process shows similarity for both metals. The thickness and morphology of the graphene films can be controlled by the carbon solubility of the metal and growth conditions. Graphene films grown on Ni do not have a uniform single-layer graphene, mostly mixture of monolayer and few-layer, owing to the high solubility of carbon (>0.1 atomic%). However, Cu has low carbon solubility (<0.001 atomic%) due to a filled d-shells leading to a uniform monolayer graphene [78, 79]. Figure 1.7 shows a representation of the graphene growth on Cu by CVD.

The advantage of this method is to obtain high quality, continuous, large area graphene film and also possibility of transfering obtained graphene onto another substrate for device fabrication. Therefore, the CVD method for graphene synthesis was preferred in this thesis work.



(1) decomposition (2) adsorption (3) diffuse and nucleation

Figure 1.7 : Schematic representation of the CVD mechanisms of graphene growth on Cu foil.
# 2. GROWTH AND CHARACTERIZATION OF GRAPHENE

## 2.1 Synthesis Flexible and Transparent Conductive Graphene Film

Optical transparent flexible conductive films (TCFs) with high electrical conductivity has been greatly studied for use in many devices with electronic and optoelectronic property such as liquid crystal displays (LCDs), OLEDs, smart interactive displays, touchscreens. Such devices which become more common in our lives can protect their original properties after bending or stretching under some special environmental conditions [80, 81]. The materials that emerged in recent years such as 1D metallic nanowires, conductive polymers and carbon nanomaterials have been examined as alternative materials for producing flexible TCFs [82-84]. Among these alternative materials, conducting polymers are electrically unstable despite their desired properties such as electrical, optical and mechanical. Graphite and carbon nanotubes with high chemical stability, high transmittance, and high conductivity have been used for TCFs. However, the surface roughness and uniformity of these materials may lead to significant drawbacks and decrease the performances of the device. In contrast, graphene which is the 2D allotrope of carbon has been attracting a great deal of attention as a good candidate material due to high optical transmittance, flexibility and extraordinary electronic properties [85-88]. In addition, the synthesis of low-defect graphene is crucial to develop large-area graphene-based TCFs. As explained in chapter 1.5, CVD is the suitable method for large-area graphene synthesis. After graphene synthesis by CVD, graphene film must be isolated from the metal catalyst and transferred onto a requested transparent substrate for TCFs applications. Various techniques are used for transferring the CVD graphene, among them the wet chemical method is the most common approach [87, 89, 90]. In the standard chemical transfer procedure, graphene films should be protected from high stress. Generally, Poly(methylmethacrylate) (PMMA) is used as supporting layer owing to its low viscosity, flexibility, high transparency and good solubility in various organic solvents. After etching the metal substrate, free PMMA/graphene layer is transferred onto transparent dielectric substrate for the TCFs applications,

lastly, the PMMA layer is removed by dissolving in acetone [91, 92]. In this work, graphene was synthesized on prepared Cu foil by atmospheric pressure chemical vapor deposition (APCVD) process and successfully transferred. Graphene film on Cu was grown using methane gas (CH<sub>4</sub>) as a carbon source with the gas mixture of argon (Ar) and hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>). The amount of CH<sub>4</sub>/H<sub>2</sub> gas mixture was optimized in order to remove the amorphous carbon deposits and obtain highly crystalline, large area graphene. The growth time was also optimized to grow the layer of graphene and control of the layer thickness. The synthesized graphene film was successfully transferred onto polyethylene terephthalate (PET) substrate which is transparent and flexible. Additionally, the sheet resistance of graphene was examined according to the number of layers from 1 layer to 4 layers. The size of the synthesized graphene films depends on the dimensions of the Cu substrate and the size of the CVD chamber.

### 2.2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.1 Pre-treatment of copper foil

Commercially available copper foil contains highly unwanted a native oxide (CuO, Cu<sub>2</sub>O), impurity and defect for graphene growth. The pre-treatment methods such as electrochemical polishing and longtime thermal annealing are commonly used for removing native copper oxide layer and reducing the impurity or defect density on copper foils [93, 94].

In this study; pre-annealing and chemical-mechanical polishing (CMP) method were used for clean and flatten the copper foil surface. Protech split tube furnace was used for CVD method. A standard 2-inch quartz tube was used as the reaction chamber in a CVD furnace and a mass flow controller (MFC) was used to measure and control the flow rate of gases (Figure 2.1). Commercially available 80  $\mu$ m thick copper foil (99.99% purity, 12 cm x 5 cm,) was placed onto a quartz sample holder and loaded into the center of a quartz tube within CVD furnace. The balancing of the entire CVD system was provided with a mixed gas flow of argon (Ar, 100 sccm) and hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>, 200 sccm) and then the system was heated to  $1075 \pm 2$  °C at a heating ramp rate of 18 °C/min. After the system reached to 1075 °C, the Cu foil was pre-annealed for 2h under ambient pressure in order to enlarge the size of Cu grain and then the system was let to cool down to the room temperature with the same flow

ratio of Ar/H<sub>2</sub>. Finally, pre-annealed Cu foil was chemical-mechanical polished with Iron(III) chloride (FeCl<sub>3</sub>) solution using laboratory tissue to obtain a flat surface. In this method, the Cu surface was wet with diluted FeCl<sub>3</sub> and tissue was moved all over the surface by applying circular motion and equal pressure. After CMP, the copper foil completely rinsed using deionized (DI) water and then dried by a nitrogen (N<sub>2</sub>) flow for 2 min.



**Figure 2.1 :** (a) and (b) the digital image of chemical vapor deposition (CVD) system. (1) split tube furnace, (2) reaction chamber, (3) mass flow controller.

# 2.2.2 Preparation of monolayer graphene film

Graphene layers were synthesized on pre-treated Cu foil by APCVD. Figure 2.2 shows the graphene growth process. The prepared Cu foil substrate was put onto quartz sample holder and loaded into hot center of quartz tube furnace. Then, the temperature was increased up to  $1075 \pm 2$  °C with 1000 sccm (standard cubic centimeters per minute) of Ar gas and 80 sccm of H<sub>2</sub> gas. The Cu foil was annealed for 40 min at this temperature prior to growth to enlarge the grain size and to provide a smooth surface. Subsequently, 12 sccm of CH<sub>4</sub> gas that used as a carbon source was released into the CVD system for 1 min at the same temperature to grow the graphene layer on Cu foil. After growth, the CH<sub>4</sub> was turned off and the chamber was cooled to room temperature under the same mixture of Ar/H<sub>2</sub> atmosphere.



Figure 2.2 : The time-dependent growth parameters used in this study and illustration of graphene growth process on Cu foil by CVD.

# 2.2.3 Transfer process of graphene film

Graphene grown by CVD has to be transferred from the metal substrate to the target substrates for most practical applications. In this study, the graphene was transferred onto different substrate since a copper foil is not suitable to use as a substrate in the electrical, physical and chemical measurements. Graphene films were transferred using the PMMA (in 4% chlorobenzene, 950,000 molecular weight) based technique. After synthesis, the prepared polymethyl methacrylate solution (PMMA, 20 mg/mL) was coated by spin-coater at 2000 rpm for 1 min on the graphene/copper foils as a

supporting layer and dried in air. In order to etch the copper foil, the graphene/PMMA films were floated on the surface of the copper etchant solution (FeCl<sub>3</sub>, Transene CE100) for 1 h. The PMMA/graphene suspended films were washed by DI water (3 times of 20 min each) to clean the substrate from any residual copper etchant. The target substrate (Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> or PET) was sonicated during 10 min in acetone, isopropyl alcohol (IPA) and DI water respectively and dried using a nitrogen gun. After this procedure, the graphene sheets with PMMA were transferred onto a target substrate (Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> or PET) and dried at 70 °C for 20 min using drying oven so as to decrease the amount of water and also to improve the contact between PMMA/graphene/wafer. Finally, the PMMA layer was dissolved in hot acetone during 5 min and then immersed in IPA and ethanol, respectively, at room temperature. The graphene/wafer samples were dried using a nitrogen gun (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3 : Transfer procedure of graphene film.

# 2.2.4 Characterization

The optical microscopy (Nicon Eclipse) and atomic force microscopy (Nanosurf, easyscan 2) were used for characterizing the morphology of the Cu foils. Optical characterization of graphene was performed by confocal Raman spectroscopy

(Renishaw) with 532 nm laser wavelength at room temperature and 100x objective, ultraviolet-visible (uv-vis) spectroscopy (Thermo Scientific, Evolution Array) and optical microscopy. Hall effect measurement system (Ecopia, HMS-3000) was used for electrical characterization of graphene at room temperature (Figure 2.4).



**Optic Microscopy** 



Ultraviolet-visible (Uv-vis) spectroscopy



**Raman Spectroscopy** 



Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM)



Hall Effect Measurement

Figure 2.4 : Images of characterization devices.

# 2.3 Results and Discussion

# 2.3.1 Effect of pre-treatment process

In the CVD growth, reducing the graphene nucleation density is of great importance for obtaining large area graphene domains since the nucleation density is highly related to active sites on copper for graphene nucleation. The defects of as-received commercial copper foil surface such as roughness, grain boundary, surface irregularities serve as nucleation seeds of graphene domains [95-97]. The formation of nucleation seeds could be reduced by CMP process and thus graphene could only nucleate on the flat Cu surface instead of Cu defects where the nucleation seeds are especially high. Figure 2.5 shows an illustration of the copper pre-cleaning by CMP method.



Figure 2.5 : Schematic procedure of the sample preparation by CMP method.

Considering the significance of the Cu foil characteristics on graphene synthesis, the surface morphology and roughness of commercially available foils were investigated using the optical microscopy (OM), and atomic force microscopy (AFM). Figure 2.6 (a) shows photographs of the pristine, pre-annealed and polished Cu foils respectively. The color of the Cu foils has remarkably changed owing to the reduction of the oxidized layer and the recrystallization of the Cu surface. The surface morphology of the pristine foils shows the striation lines and the rough surface that occur during the rolling process used for the manufacture of the Cu sheets. In addition, some defect such as surface pits and impurity particles can be observed which may act as nucleation sites. After pre-annealing at 1075°C, the morphologies were mostly reformed and grain boundaries became more pronounced while the structural defect lines are reduced (Figure 2.6 b and c). The pre-annealed Cu foil was polished using acid treatment to achieve a more uniform surface. Figure 2.6 (d) shows that polished Cu has a sufficiently smoother surface than that of the reference samples. It was observed that the indentation was decreased and impurities were mostly disappeared after polishing.



**Figure 2.6 :** (a) Digital images of Cu foils after the annealing and polishing treatment and optical images of (b) pristine, (c) pre-annealed and (d) polished Cu foils. Scale bars are 100 μm.

The surface roughness of Cu foils was characterized by AFM. Figure 2.7 shows the surface topology and root mean square (RMS) roughness measurement data of foils applied to Gaussian filtering to suppress the waviness effect and scanned at various points in a  $10x10 \ \mu m$  area. It is seen that after polishing, the roughness of the Cu surface is reduced from 167 nm to 81nm and Cu surface became smoother.



**Figure 2.7 :** 3D AFM topography image of the Cu surface (a) before and (b) after polishing, roughness mean square is abbreviated as RMS.

These results are consistent with optical microscopy results and with earlier reports indicating that annealing and polishing of Cu reduce surface contamination and help to obtain a flat surface [98-101]. However, CMP method for the preparing metal substrate before graphene growth is rarely reported. Our procedure is a simple method to polish the Cu foils, of which surface roughness was decreased to 81nm.

To demonstrate the effect of Cu foil on graphene quality, graphene film was synthesized on unpolished and CMP copper foils and transferred onto Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> substrate. The optical microscopy results of graphene grown on polished (CMP-Cu) and unpolished Cu foils were compared in Figure 2.8. The graphene which was grown on unpolished Cu was nucleated randomly and contained incomplete areas due to the existence of impurity particles (Figure 2.8 a). In contrast, graphene film grown on CMP-Cu was highly continuous (Figure 2.8 b). These images prove that pre-treatment process of Cu foil is very effective to synthesize high quality and continuous graphene.



**Figure 2.8 :** Optical images of graphene grown on (a) unpolished-Cu and (b) CMP-Cu. Graphene films were transfered on Si/SiO<sub>2</sub>.

## 2.3.2 Characterization of the CVD-graphene film

The APCVD process has been optimized by adjusting the  $CH_4/H_2$  flow rate to synthesize a single-layer graphene. Quality of the CVD grown graphene is greatly dependent on the hydrogen contribution, therefore it is widely used for the graphene growth processes. Hydrogen gas is mainly used for activating the creation of surface-bound carbon and also for the removal of amorphous carbon impurities, so that the number of layers, cyristallinity, and morphology of the graphene domains can be controlled [95, 102, 103]. In this study, the H<sub>2</sub> amount in the CH<sub>4</sub>/H<sub>2</sub> gas mixture was

optimized in order to reduce defect density and also to grow large area, monolayer graphene. The flow rate (1000 sccm) of Ar during the entire process and CH<sub>4</sub> (20 sccm) for the growth process and also growth time were constant. Effect of different flow rates of H<sub>2</sub> on graphene growth were investigated using Raman spectroscopy as shown in Figure 2.9. Raman spectroscopy can inform about crystal size, the existence of  $sp^2-sp^3$  hybridization, number of graphene layers, defects and disorder. Raman spectra show D, G and 2D (or G') common bands, appearing at about 1350 cm<sup>-1</sup>, 1582 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2700 cm<sup>-1</sup> respectively, for graphitic materials. The D band, at about half of the frequency of the 2D band, is associated with sp<sup>3</sup>-hybridized carbon and this means defect or disorder for graphene. The G band is common to all sp<sup>2</sup> carbon systems, occurs from stretching of the C-C bond. The 2D band is the second most prominent peak that observed because of two-phonon lattice resonant process. The I<sub>D</sub>/I<sub>G</sub> ratio (intensity of the D peak to that of the G peak) measured from the Raman spectrum is used to determine disorder degree in graphitic materials. The increment in the I<sub>D</sub>/I<sub>G</sub> ratio refers to the decrement of the number of graphite microcrystallites. Furthermore, I2D/IG ratio is used to determine the number of graphene layers [104-107]. As can be observed from Figure 2.9 (b), if the concentration of hydrogen is increased the defect peak intensity in the Raman spectrum decreases from 1.6 to 0.5 whereas the  $I_{2D}/I_G$  ratio increases. The  $I_{2D}$  /  $I_G$ density ratio of the graphene which was synthesized with 80 sccm flow rate of H<sub>2</sub> was found as approximately 1.89 and this result seems to be useful for improving the graphene quality in our process conditions. Moreover, the ratio of CH<sub>4</sub> was varied from 10% to 25% in present growth parameters to examine the effect of methane partial pressure on raman quality (Figure 2.9 c,d). Graphene films synthesized at the high CH<sub>4</sub> flow rate (>12 sccm) have much weaker 2D peaks and large structural defects (high I<sub>D</sub>/I<sub>G</sub> ratio values) likewise very low CH<sub>4</sub> flow rate (8 sccm and 10 sccm). However, as CH<sub>4</sub> was increased up to 12 sccm, the I<sub>2D</sub>/I<sub>G</sub> ratio was increased showing the monolayer graphene was obtained [104]. Consistent results were obtained with the results obtained by other research groups [103, 108-111].



**Figure 2.9 :** Raman spectrum of transferred graphene films (a) grown at the different H<sub>2</sub> flow rate, (b) plot of I<sub>2D</sub>/I<sub>G</sub> and I<sub>D</sub>/I<sub>G</sub> ratios as a function of H<sub>2</sub> amount, (c) grown at the different CH<sub>4</sub> flow, (d) corresponding I<sub>2D</sub>/I<sub>G</sub> and I<sub>D</sub>/I<sub>G</sub>.

According to the obtained results, 12/80 sccm ratio of CH<sub>4</sub>/ H<sub>2</sub> was chosen as the best ratio obtained in this work, which is close to that of monolayer graphene, and this ratio was used in the following experiments. On the basis of this results further optimization steps were made and the growth time was decreased. Using the optimal conditions graphene films were synthesized at 1075 °C with 1000/80/12 sccm flow rate of Ar/H<sub>2</sub>/CH<sub>4</sub> for a 1 min on Cu foil by APCVD. The prepared graphene films were transferred onto Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> (p-doped silicon with about 300 nm oxide) and PET substrate for electrical and optical characterizations. The Raman spectra were measured from monolayer region and the peak position of D, G and 2D appear around 1347 cm<sup>-1</sup>, 1586 cm<sup>-1</sup>. 2680 cm<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (Figure 2.10 a). Morever,  $I_D/I_G$ and  $I_{2D}/I_G$  were found about 0,3 and 3, respectively, and the insert figure shows a strong and narrow 2D peak with a full-width half-maximum (FWHM) of 35 cm<sup>-1</sup>. This symmetric 2D peak can be well fitted by a single Lorentzian curve. These results verify the presence of a single-layer graphene with a low structural disorder and also the number of layers were confirmed using  $\omega_G(n) = 1581.6 + 11/(1 + n^{-1.6})$ formula, where n is the layer number (. $\omega_G \sim 1586$ ) [104, 112, 113]. The optical

microscope images shown in Figure 2.10 (b) indicate that the graphene film is mostly homogeneous and continuous and have a small amount of dark region (dotted circle) which are identified as the bilayer or multilayer graphene [114]. Moreover, 2D bands were taken over a 25 x 21  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> area with a 0.5  $\mu$ m step size to further investigate the quality, uniformity and thickness of graphene, as shown in Figure 2.10 (c). From the optical contrast it appears that the 2D band is generally uniform over the examined region, indicating that the prepared high-quality graphene is suitable for transparent electrode application [115].



**Figure 2.10 :** (a) Raman spectra of transferred graphene. The insert shows the Lorentzian fitting of 2D peak. The insert shows the 2D peak fitted by Lorentzian peaks. (b) Optical image of transferred graphene film. Arrows show incomplete adlayers (c) Raman mapping images of graphene for 2D peak as indicated from the image (b) with the dotted square (25 x 21  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>).

For transparent conductive film applications, the optical and electrical properties of  $1.5 \times 1.5 \text{ cm}^2$  graphene films were measured by UV-visible spectrometer and Hall effect measurement system respectively. The sheet resistance (R<sub>s</sub>) is very important factor for conductive films and determine their performance. In order to measure sheet resistance, graphene films were transferred onto Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> wafer and then four indium electrodes were connected on each corner of the film square that making ohmic contact. Finally, the measurements of sheet resistance and mobility of graphene were found about 718  $\Omega$ /sq and 1000 cm<sup>2</sup>/V.s, respectively, with a carrier density of  $10^{12}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>. The mobility mostly depends on grain boundaries, dislocations, residue from the transfer processing and other surface properties. Therefore, the

mobility of CVD-graphene shows lower mobility values, from less than 1000  $cm^2/V.s$  up to 10000  $cm^2/V.s$  [116, 117].

Additionally, the graphene films were transferred onto a PET substrate to determine the availability of high-quality, monolayer graphene in large areas. The transmittance of graphene film was measured by UV-Vis spectroscopy using a piece of PET as baseline. The average value of transmittance of 96.8% at  $\lambda$  =550 nm was observed (Figure 2.11). These results are slightly lower than the theoretical value (97.7%) which might be due to the polymer residue or other impurities [7, 118]. It has been determined that graphene films synthesized in this study show a homogeneous optical transmittance being suitable for transparent conductive electrode (TCE) applications.



**Figure 2.11 :** Optical transmittance of graphene film transferred on PET substrate.

The high value of transmittance (T) and conductivity (with low sheet resistance) are always desired for TCE applications. Nevertheless, sheet resistance and transmittance are inversely related as can be understood from the equation 2.1.

$$\frac{\sigma_{DC}}{\sigma_{OP}} = \frac{188.5}{R_s(T^{-0.5} - 1)} \tag{2.1}$$

In the equation,  $\sigma_{DC}$  is conductivity,  $\sigma_{OP}$  is optical conductivity,  $R_s$  is sheet resistance, and T is transmittance [119]. Using this equation, electrical to optical conductivity ratio was found approximately 16. The  $\sigma_{DC}/\sigma_{OP}$  ratio is important to enhance the performance of TCE. Accordingly, a layer-by-layer approach used in previous reports was utilized to alter the conductivity ratio [75, 87, 120]. Multilayer "graphene stacks" were prepared by repeating transfer process on the same PET substrate. The prepared films are shown in Figure 2.12. The measured transmittance and sheet resistance value and the calculated  $\sigma_{DC}/\sigma_{OP}$  values for layer-by-layer graphene are given in Table 2.1. It has been observed that the transmittance of graphene film was reduced by about 3% by addition of each graphene layer, which is consistent with the previously reported values for the absorption of light (~2.3%) for each graphene layer [7]. Furthermore, the sheet resistance decreases as the number of layers increases. Because the layer-by-layer process provides extra ways to move the electrons and holes in the film. The obtained ratio of  $\sigma_{DC}/\sigma_{OD}$  value for 1 layer graphene is better than that of the reported value (0.7 - 11), yet it is still not at the desired value (>35) in TCE industry standards [121].



**Figure 2.12 :** Photographs of of graphene films with from 1 layer to 4 layers on PET.

Table 2.1 : Transmittance, sheet resistance	e, and $\sigma_{DC}/\sigma_{OP}$	values for	the layer-by	/-layer
	graphene.			

	1-layer	2-layers	3-layers	4-layers
Transmittance(%)	~97	~94	~91	~88
Sheet Resistance (Ω/sq)	718	538	306	226
σdc/σορ	16	10.3	12.5	13

## 3. CONTROLLING THE ELECTRONIC PROPERTIES OF GRAPHENE

## 3.1 Electronic Modulation of Graphene via Doping Method

Graphene, a gapless material, is one of the most attractive materials for flexible and transparent electronic applications due to its unusual electronic properties. However, the potential use of the graphene in some applications is limited due to the zero band gap and therefore altering the band gap and Fermi level (or workfunction) of graphene is a critical issue. There are many approaches to modify the electronic properties of the graphene by shifting the Fermi level, the most common of which is the chemical modification or doping process. These approaches can be categorized as covalent, with the chemisorption on basal plane, and noncovalent, with physisorption on the surface. The covalent modification also known as substitutional doping refers to the addition of heteroatoms which are electron donors or acceptors in the graphene lattice. These heteroatoms covalently bond with carbon atoms in the graphene lattice and transform sp<sup>2</sup> hybridization of carbon to sp<sup>3</sup> via breaking the C-C  $\pi$ - and  $\sigma$ bonds, as shown in Figure 3.1(a). Thus, the geometric and electronic band structure of graphene is modified, which creates a band gap and causes p- and n-type conductivity. The non-covalent modification also known as surface transfer doping occurs by electron exchange between dopant, which adsorbs on the surface through weak van der Waals interaction, and graphene lattice. Such modification generally is achieved by spin-coating or dip coating of a dopant solution changing the electronic properties without disrupting the structure of graphene (Figure 3.1b) [122-126]. Figure 3.1(c) shows the Fermi energy levels (E<sub>F</sub>) and band structures of intrinsic, pand n-type graphene. The linear valence band ( $\pi$ ) and conduction bands ( $\pi^*$ ) touch each other in the Dirac points and these  $\pi$  electrons (electrons and holes) having opposite charge are used to form noncovalent bonding in the surface transfer doping. Charge transfer is related to the difference between the Fermi level of graphene and the highest occupied molecular level (HOMO) or the lowest unoccupied molecular level (LUMO) of the dopant. If the LUMO of dopant is below the Fermi level of graphene, the dopant act as an acceptor and charge (holes) passes through to the

dopant from the graphene, hence Fermi level of graphene downshifts and becomes ptype. If the HOMO of dopant is over the Fermi level of graphene, the dopant act as a donor and charge (electrons) transfers from dopant to the graphene so that Fermi level of graphene upshifts and becomes n-type [127-129]. By using this method, the charge carrier concentration and the work function of graphene can be controlled.



**Figure 3.1 :** (a) covalent, (b) non-covalent modification of graphene, (c) band structure of intrinsic, p-type and n-type graphene.

Many different chemical substances have been studied for the functionalization of graphene, and self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) are one of them. SAMs are welloriented, stable and ultrathin layers ( $\sim 1-3$  nm) that uniformly bond with the surface through chemical or physical interactions between molecules and substrate. SAMs are prefered in organic electronic and nanotechnological applications due to their flexibility, low-cost and comparably easy fabrication process. The molecular structure of SAMs which is illustrated in Figure 3.2 consists of three main groups: (i) surface-active head group, binding with the substrate by a strong or a weak bond, (ii) tail, having aromatic structure and determining the thickness of SAMs, (iii) functional end groups, identifying the surface properties of SAMs [130].



Figure 3.2 : Structure illustration of self-assembly monolayers (SAMs).

SAMs have been recently used to produce n- and p-type graphene by controlling charge carrier of graphene [131-134]. Park et al have reported the modification of electronic properties of graphene using SAMs with electron donor or acceptor functional groups openinig its band gap [135].

In this study, the effect of various SAMs on the electronic properties of CVD-grown graphene film was investigated. The charge carrier density and conductivity of graphene were studied as a function of dopant type and molarity.

# **3.2 Materials and Methods**

4-Fluorophenyl boronic acid (F-PBA), 3,4-Difluorophenyl boronic acid (2F-PBA), 3,4,5-Trimethoxyphenyl boronic acid (3M-PBA), Boron trifluoride dimethyl etherate (BF3), 4,4"-bis(diphenylamino)-1,1':3',1"-terphenyl (TPA) and 4,4"-di-9H-carbazol-9-yl-1,1':3',1"-terphenyl (CAR) with carboxylic acid were used as SAMs to modify electrical properties of graphene. Each of these molecules were prepared 10<sup>-4</sup> M concentration at room temperature. F-PBA, 2F-PBA, 3M-PBA were dissolved in N,N-Dimethylformamide (DMF, S1gma-Aldrıch, D158550), BF3 was dissolved in methanol (Merck, 1060092511), TPA and CAR were dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO).

Graphene samples which were synthesized and transferred as described in chapter 2 were kept in the prepared SAMs solution for 24 hours and then rinsed to remove residues and finally dried using nitrogen gun.

### **3.3 Characterization**

Scanning electron microscopy (ZEISS, GeminiSEM Sigma 300VP) was used for surface characterization of pristine and doped graphene. The optical characteristic and quality of samples were analyzed using Renishaw inVia Raman Spectroscopy with 532 nm laser wavelength and UV-vis spectroscopy (Thermo Scientific, Evolution Array). The electrical characterization of graphene was measured at room temperature using Hall effect measurement system (Ecopia, HMS-3000).

### **3.4 Results and Discussion**

The surface morphology of synthesized graphene film is shown in Figure 3.3. Some white lines were observed on the graphene film, which are wrinkles forming during the transfer due to the differences in thermal expansion coefficients of the graphene and the Cu-foil ( $\alpha_{graphene} = -6 \times 10^{-6}/K$  at 27 °C;  $\alpha_{Cu} = 24 \times 10^{-6}/K$ ) [136-138]. These wrinkles prove the continuity of the grown graphene.

Changing the electronic properties of graphene having a zero band gap is crucial for use in future electronic applications. For this purpose, after graphene films were synthesized and transferred onto Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> substrate as mentioned in the previous section, chemical doping treatments were performed by dipping in chemicals for 24h at room temperature. The chemical structures of various SAMs used for tuning electronic properties of graphene are shown in Figure 3.4.



**Figure 3.3 :** SEM images of pristine graphene film. The white arrows indicate the wrinkles.



Figure 3.4 : Chemical strucrutes of SAMs.

Raman spectroscopy is a useful method to examine the doping behavior of graphene by analysing the G and 2D bands position. The characteristic G and 2D bands alter depending on the doping effect. The Raman 2D and G band peaks positions are blueshifted (upshift) with electron-withdrawing dopant and redshifted (downshift) with electron donating dopant. As shown in Figure 3.5, the difference in the G and 2D peak positions indicate the alteration of the graphene electronic state. The upshifting of G band indicates that charge transfer from graphene to dopant while the down-shifting indicates that charge transfer from dopant to graphene. Depending on doping type, Raman intensity as well as G and 2D peak positions are changing. It is seen in Figure 3.5(c) that intensity ratio  $(I_{2D}/I_G)$  was remarkably decreased after doping because of all molecules used have large aromatic-ring structures. This aromatic-ring, having either electron-donor or electron-acceptor groups, enables the molecule binding to the surface of graphene by  $\pi - \pi$  interaction and results in intensity decrease [139, 140]. These results indicating changes in peak positions and intensities are evidenced that the graphene was effectively doped by SAMs. Although F-PBA and 2F-PBA are acceptor molecules, downshifting G and 2D band demonstrated that these molecules act as a donor and make n-type graphene. This result is believed to be due to the absence of an  $\sigma^*$  OH orbital of which is an electron acceptor, or to the loss of hydrogen bond donor ability of the hydroxyl groups [141, 142].



**Figure 3.5 :** The raman spectrum obtained from pristine and modified graphene with different SAMs molecules a) the G (left) and 2D (right) bands (b) effect of doping on Raman G and 2D band position (c) intensity ratio.

To further demonstrate the doping effects and examine the effect on the electronic properties of graphene, Hall measurement technique was used. Transferred graphene samples (1.5 cm x 1.5 cm) onto Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> were doped with SAMs for 24h by dipping method and the sheet carrier density and mobility measurements were performed at 300 K. Hall effect measurement results for these graphene films are shown in Figure 3.6. The carrier density of undoped graphene was measured about 8.7 x  $10^{12}$ cm<sup>-2</sup> with an average mobility of 1000 cm<sup>2</sup>/V.s, which is similar to previously observed results [143, 144]. The lower mobility than kish graphene is caused by the defects formed during transfer process or due to the bilayer graphene regions. The sheet carrier density was increased with BF3 and CAR doping and achieved to 1.4 x 10<sup>13</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup> whereas, it was decreased with TPA, F-PBA and 2F-PBA dopings and reached about to 3.8 10<sup>12</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup>. When graphene doped with 3M-PBA, the carrier type changed from p-type to n-type and carrier density was measured as about 3.85  $10^{12}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>. The reducing in mobility after doping indicates that the graphene becomes n-type. Because of electron-donor nature of 3M-PBA, the conductivity of graphene decreased so that the sheet resistance increased and graphene became n-type [145].

The relation between sheet resistance ( $R_s$ ), conductivity ( $\sigma$ ) and mobility ( $\mu$ ) are described as:

$$R_s = \frac{\rho}{t} \text{ and } \rho = \frac{1}{\sigma} = \frac{1}{qn\mu}$$
(3.1)

where  $\rho$  is the resistivity, t is the film thickness, q is electron charge (1.6 x10<sup>-19</sup> C), and n is the carrier density [121]. In the case of other dopants, the charge transfer activity between graphene and dopants were reduced. This may be due to the fact that large doping groups inhibit carrier movement [146].



**Figure 3.6 :** (a) Sheet carrier density, (b) mobility and conductivity of doped and undoped graphene.

The ability to alter the electrical properties of the graphene to the desired level is very important for device applications. Therefore, various concentrations of F-PBA SAM solution in DMF were prepared and graphene films with 1.5 x 1.5 cm<sup>2</sup> size were doped for 1h. The mobility and carrier concentration of graphene doped with different concentration were compared in Table 3.1. It was observed that the properties of CVD-grown graphene could be controlled through changing the concentration of SAMs applied. It has been determined that very low concentration (0.0001 M) solution of F-PBA has a stronger doping effect than that of high concentration solution (0.1 M). The mobility was found about 464 cm<sup>2</sup>/V.s and 334 cm<sup>2</sup>/V.s with F-PBA solution concentration 0.0001 M and 0.01 M, respectively.

Concentration M	Resistivity 1/Ω.cm	Sheet Resistance Ω/sq	Mobility cm <sup>2</sup> /V.s	Sheet carrier density /cm <sup>2</sup>
10-4	2,22 x 10 <sup>-4</sup>	2229	463,83	6,28 x 10 <sup>12</sup>
10 <sup>-2</sup> M	1,46 x 10 <sup>-4</sup>	1462	456,2	9,36 x 10 <sup>12</sup>
0,1 M	1,59 x 10 <sup>-4</sup>	1591	333,6	1,18 x 10 <sup>12</sup>

**Table 3.1 :** Electrical properties of graphene doped with various concentrations.

#### 4. CONCLUSION

In this thesis work, large area high-quality graphene synthesis on Cu foil by CVD method was achieved and its electrical characteristics were tuned by SAMs modifications. Firstly, it was found that Cu surface morphology such as roughness and density of grain boundaries plays a considerable role in high-quality graphene film synthesis. Therefore, it was presented a pre-annealing and chemical-mechanical polishing (CMP) method to reduce defect density on Cu foil and to enhance the quality of graphene. The results showed that the CMP-Cu foil has a smooth surface making it a suitable substrate for large area, monolayer graphene synthesis. Secondly, graphene films were synthesized on CMP-Cu foil by modification of the growth parameters such as CH<sub>4</sub>/H<sub>2</sub> flow rate and growth time. Our results revealed that the concentration of H<sub>2</sub> in CH<sub>4</sub>/H<sub>2</sub> flow rate ratio effects the quality and number of layers of graphene. It has been determined that graphene films synthesized with low H<sub>2</sub> concentration are defective and multilayered. The high-quality, flexible and transparent graphene film was synthesized at  $1075 \pm 2$  °C for a 1 min by optimizing the CH<sub>4</sub>/H<sub>2</sub> flow rate as 12/80 sccm. The image of flexible and transparent conductive graphene film synthesized was shown in Figure 4.1. Raman spectroscopy was used to determine the number of graphene layers, and the 2D/G intensity ratio was found as about 3 proving that our graphene film is mostly monolayer. It was also showed that the sheet resistance of graphene can be reduced via the layer-by-layer transfer method in order to be used in transparent electrode applications. Although the sheet resistance of graphene was decreased by 69% with layer by layer approach, the transmittance was reduced by about 9.3%.

In order to control electrical properties, graphene films were modified using surface transfer doping with various SAM molecules. The charge carrier density and mobility of graphene can be controlled by SAMs modification, which makes graphene either n-type or p-type. The doping behaviour of graphenes which are doped with different SAM molecules was analysed via Raman microscopy. Sheet resistance, carrier density and mobility were measured for doped and undoped graphene, systematically.

The carrier density of undoped graphene was measured about 8.7 x  $10^{12}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> with an average mobility of 1000 cm<sup>2</sup>/V.s and changed to n-type with SAMs coating. It was also demonstrated that the properties of CVD-grown graphene could be controlled by changing the SAM concentrations.



**Figure 4.1 :** Photography of the graphene film.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Geim, A.K. and K.S. Novoselov, *The rise of graphene*. Nature Materials, 2007. 6: p. 183.
- 2. Novoselov, K.S., et al., *Electric Field Effect in Atomically Thin Carbon Films*. Science, 2004. 306(5696): p. 666-669.
- 3. **Balandin, A.A., et al.,** *Superior Thermal Conductivity of Single-Layer Graphene.* Nano Letters, 2008. 8(3): p. 902-907.
- 4. **Castro Neto, A.H., et al.,** *The electronic properties of graphene.* Reviews of Modern Physics, 2009. 81(1): p. 109-162.
- 5. Lee, C., et al., Measurement of the Elastic Properties and Intrinsic Strength of Monolayer Graphene. Science, 2008. 321(5887): p. 385-388.
- 6. **Lee, G.-H., et al.,** *High-Strength Chemical-Vapor–Deposited Graphene and Grain Boundaries.* Science, 2013. 340(6136): p. 1073-1076.
- 7. Nair, R.R., et al., *Fine Structure Constant Defines Visual Transparency of Graphene*. Science, 2008. 320(5881): p. 1308-1308.
- 8. **Novoselov, K.S., et al.,** *Two-dimensional atomic crystals.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2005. 102(30): p. 10451-10453.
- 9. Shih, C.-J., M.S. Strano, and D. Blankschtein, *Wetting translucency of graphene*. Nature Materials, 2013. 12: p. 866.
- 10. Soldano, C., A. Mahmood, and E. Dujardin, *Production, properties and potential of graphene*. Carbon, 2010. 48(8): p. 2127-2150.
- 11. Allen, M.J., V.C. Tung, and R.B. Kaner, *Honeycomb Carbon: A Review of Graphene*. Chemical Reviews, 2010. 110(1): p. 132-145.
- 12. Lin, Y.-M., et al., *Wafer-Scale Graphene Integrated Circuit*. Science, 2011. 332(6035): p. 1294-1297.
- 13. **Shao, Y., et al.,** *Graphene Based Electrochemical Sensors and Biosensors: A Review.* Electroanalysis, 2010. 22(10): p. 1027-1036.
- 14. **Wu, Y., et al.,** *High-frequency, scaled graphene transistors on diamond-like carbon.* Nature, 2011. 472(7341): p. 74-78.
- 15. Lin, Y.-M., et al., Operation of Graphene Transistors at Gigahertz Frequencies. Nano Letters, 2009. 9(1): p. 422-426.
- 16. **Stoller, M.D., et al.**, *Graphene-Based Ultracapacitors*. Nano Letters, 2008. 8(10): p. 3498-3502.
- 17. **Pumera, M.,** *Electrochemistry of graphene: new horizons for sensing and energy storage.* The Chemical Record, 2009. 9(4): p. 211-223.
- 18. Wassei, J.K. and R.B. Kaner, *Graphene, a promising transparent conductor*. Materials Today, 2010. 13(3): p. 52-59.
- 19. **Bae, S., et al.,** *Roll-to-roll production of 30-inch graphene films for transparent electrodes.* Nat Nano, 2010. 5(8): p. 574-578.
- 20. **Das Sarma, S., et al.,** *Electronic transport in two-dimensional graphene.* Reviews of Modern Physics, 2011. 83(2): p. 407-470.
- 21. **Fuchs, J.-N. and M.O. Goerbig,** *Introduction to the physical properties of graphene.* Lecture notes, 2008.
- 22. Jorio, A., et al., *The sp2 Nanocarbons: Prototypes for Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*. Raman Spectroscopy in Graphene Related Systems, 2011: p. 1-15.

- 23. **Wallace, P.R.,** *The Band Theory of Graphite.* Physical Review, 1947. 71(9): p. 622-634.
- 24. **Rao, C.e.N.e.R., et al.**, *Graphene: the new two-dimensional nanomaterial.* Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2009. 48(42): p. 7752-7777.
- 25. Geim, A.K., Graphene: Status and Prospects. Science, 2009. 324(5934): p. 1530-1534.
- 26. **Avouris, P.,** *Graphene: Electronic and Photonic Properties and Devices.* Nano Letters, 2010. 10(11): p. 4285-4294.
- 27. Schultz, B.J., et al., An electronic structure perspective of graphene interfaces. Nanoscale, 2014. 6(7): p. 3444-3466.
- 28. **Zhang, Y., et al.,** *Experimental observation of the quantum Hall effect and Berry's phase in graphene.* Nature, 2005. 438: p. 201.
- 29. **Huang, X., et al.,** *Graphene-based materials: synthesis, characterization, properties, and applications.* small, 2011. **7**(14): p. 1876-1902.
- 30. Lin, Y.-M., et al., 100-GHz Transistors from Wafer-Scale Epitaxial Graphene. Science, 2010. 327(5966): p. 662-662.
- 31. Xia, F., et al., Graphene Field-Effect Transistors with High On/Off Current Ratio and Large Transport Band Gap at Room Temperature. Nano Letters, 2010. 10(2): p. 715-718.
- 32. **Stankovich, S., et al.,** *Graphene-based composite materials.* Nature, 2006. 442: p. 282.
- 33. Song, S.H., et al., Enhanced Thermal Conductivity of Epoxy–Graphene Composites by Using Non-Oxidized Graphene Flakes with Non-Covalent Functionalization. Advanced Materials, 2013. 25(5): p. 732-737.
- 34. Atta, N.F., A. Galal, and E.H. El-Ads, Graphene A Platform for Sensor and Biosensor Applications, in Biosensors - Micro and Nanoscale Applications, T. Rinken, Editor. 2015, InTech: Rijeka. p. Ch. 02.
- 35. Schedin, F., et al., Detection of individual gas molecules adsorbed on graphene. Nature Materials, 2007. 6: p. 652.
- 36. Wang, T., et al., A Review on Graphene-Based Gas/Vapor Sensors with Unique Properties and Potential Applications. Nano-Micro Letters, 2016. 8(2): p. 95-119.
- 37. Varghese, S.S., et al., *Recent advances in graphene based gas sensors*. Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 2015. 218(Supplement C): p. 160-183.
- 38. Cheng, Q., et al., Graphene and carbon nanotube composite electrodes for supercapacitors with ultra-high energy density. Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics, 2011. 13(39): p. 17615-17624.
- 39. **Kwon, J., B.K. Sharma, and J.-H. Ahn,** *Graphene based nanogenerator for energy harvesting.* Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, 2013. 52(6S): p. 06GA02.
- 40. **Hu, Y.H., H. Wang, and B. Hu,** *Thinnest Two-Dimensional Nanomaterial Graphene for Solar Energy.* ChemSusChem, 2010. 3(7): p. 782-796.
- 41. **Cai, X., et al.,** *Graphene and graphene-based composites as Li-ion battery electrode materials and their application in full cells.* Journal of Materials Chemistry A, 2017. 5(30): p. 15423-15446.
- 42. **Han, T.-H., et al.,** *Graphene-based flexible electronic devices.* Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports, 2017. 118(Supplement C): p. 1-43.
- 43. Shahil, K.M. and A.A. Balandin, *Thermal properties of graphene and multilayer graphene: Applications in thermal interface materials.* Solid State Communications, 2012. 152(15): p. 1331-1340.

- 44. **Loeblein, M., et al.,** *High-Density 3D-Boron Nitride and 3D-Graphene for High-Performance Nano–Thermal Interface Material.* ACS nano, 2017. 11(2): p. 2033-2044.
- 45. **Daniel, S., et al.,** *Graphene photodetectors with a bandwidth* >76 *GHz fabricated in a 6 "wafer process line.* Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 2017. 50(12): p. 124004.
- 46. **Eizenberg, M. and J. Blakely,** *Carbon monolayer phase condensation on Ni* (*111*). Surface Science, 1979. 82(1): p. 228-236.
- 47. Eizenberg, M. and J. Blakely, Carbon interaction with nickel surfaces: Monolayer formation and structural stability. The Journal of Chemical Physics, 1979. 71(8): p. 3467-3477.
- 48. Lang, B., A LEED study of the deposition of carbon on platinum crystal surfaces. Surface Science, 1975. 53(1): p. 317-329.
- 49. **Choi, W., et al.,** *Synthesis of Graphene and Its Applications: A Review.* Critical Reviews in Solid State and Materials Sciences, 2010. 35(1): p. 52-71.
- 50. Lu, X., et al., *Tailoring graphite with the goal of achieving single sheets*. Nanotechnology, 1999. 10(3): p. 269.
- 51. **Lavin-Lopez, M., et al.,** *Synthesis and characterization of graphene: influence of synthesis variables.* Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics, 2014. 16(7): p. 2962-2970.
- 52. **Zhi, L. and K. Mullen,** A bottom-up approach from molecular nanographenes to unconventional carbon materials. Journal of Materials Chemistry, 2008. 18(13): p. 1472-1484.
- 53. **Faridbod, F., et al.,** Functionalized Graphene: Synthesis and Its Applications in Electrochemistry, in Graphene Science Handbook. 2016, CRC Press. p. 149-170.
- 54. **Zhang, Y., et al.,** Fabrication and electric-field-dependent transport measurements of mesoscopic graphite devices. Applied Physics Letters, 2005. 86(7): p. 073104.
- 55. **Bhuyan, M.S.A., et al.,** *Synthesis of graphene.* International Nano Letters, 2016. 6(2): p. 65-83.
- 56. Chen, J.-H., et al., Intrinsic and extrinsic performance limits of graphene devices on SiO2. 2008. 3: p. 206.
- 57. **Zheng, Q. and J.-K. Kim,** Synthesis, Structure, and Properties of Graphene and Graphene Oxide, in Graphene for Transparent Conductors: Synthesis, Properties and Applications. 2015, Springer New York: New York, NY. p. 29-94.
- 58. **Yi, M. and Z. Shen,** A review on mechanical exfoliation for the scalable production of graphene. Journal of Materials Chemistry A, 2015. 3(22): p. 11700-11715.
- 59. **Ciesielski, A. and P. Samori,** *Graphene via sonication assisted liquid-phase exfoliation.* Chemical Society Reviews, 2014. 43(1): p. 381-398.
- 60. **Parvez, K., et al.,** *Exfoliation of graphene via wet chemical routes.* Synthetic Metals, 2015. 210(Part A): p. 123-132.
- 61. **Parvez, K.,** Chemical Exfoliation of Graphene and Its Application in Organic Electronics and Energy Storage Devices. 2014.
- 62. **Amieva, E.J.C., et al.,** *Graphene-Based Materials Functionalization with Natural Polymeric Biomolecules*, in *Recent Advances in Graphene Research*, P.K. Nayak, Editor. 2016, InTech: Rijeka. p. Ch. 12.

- 63. **Tetlow, H., et al.,** *Growth of epitaxial graphene: Theory and experiment.* Physics Reports, 2014. 542(3): p. 195-295.
- 64. Norimatsu, W. and M. Kusunoki, *Epitaxial graphene on SiC{0001}: advances and perspectives.* Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics, 2014. 16(8): p. 3501-3511.
- 65. **Kageshima, H., H. Hibino, and S. Tanabe,** *The physics of epitaxial graphene on SiC(0001).* Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter, 2012. 24(31): p. 314215.
- 66. **De Heer, W.A., et al.,** *Large area and structured epitaxial graphene produced by confinement controlled sublimation of silicon carbide.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2011. 108(41): p. 16900-16905.
- 67. **Cooper, D.R., et al.,** *Experimental review of graphene*. ISRN Condensed Matter Physics, 2012. 2012.
- 68. **Berger, C., et al.,** *Electronic confinement and coherence in patterned epitaxial graphene.* Science, 2006. 312(5777): p. 1191-1196.
- 69. **Hu, Y., et al.**, *Structured epitaxial graphene: growth and properties.* Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 2012. 45(15): p. 154010.
- 70. Whitener, K.E. and P.E. Sheehan, *Graphene synthesis*. Diamond and related materials, 2014. 46: p. 25-34.
- 71. **Zaretski, A.V. and D.J. Lipomi,** *Processes for non-destructive transfer of graphene: widening the bottleneck for industrial scale production.* Nanoscale, 2015. 7(22): p. 9963-9969.
- 72. N'Diaye, A.T., et al., *Two-Dimensional Ir Cluster Lattice on a Graphene Moir\'e on Ir(111).* Physical Review Letters, 2006. 97(21): p. 215501.
- 73. **Reina, A., et al.,** Large Area, Few-Layer Graphene Films on Arbitrary Substrates by Chemical Vapor Deposition. Nano Letters, 2009. **9**(1): p. 30-35.
- 74. **Zhang, Y., L. Zhang, and C. Zhou,** *Review of Chemical Vapor Deposition of Graphene and Related Applications.* Accounts of Chemical Research, 2013. 46(10): p. 2329-2339.
- 75. **Bae, S., et al.,** *Roll-to-roll production of 30-inch graphene films for transparent electrodes.* Nature Nanotechnology, 2010. 5: p. 574.
- 76. López, M.d.P.L., et al., Optimization of the Synthesis Procedures of Graphene and Graphite Oxide, in Recent Advances in Graphene Research. 2016, InTech.
- 77. **Muñoz, R. and C. Gómez-Aleixandre,** *Review of CVD synthesis of graphene*. Chemical Vapor Deposition, 2013. 19(10-11-12): p. 297-322.
- 78. Li, X., et al., Large-Area Synthesis of High-Quality and Uniform Graphene Films on Copper Foils. Science, 2009. 324(5932): p. 1312-1314.
- 79. Antonova, I.V., Chemical vapor deposition growth of graphene on copper substrates: current trends. Physics-Uspekhi, 2013. 56(10): p. 1013.
- 80. **Pang, S., et al.,** *Graphene as transparent electrode material for organic electronics.* Advanced Materials, 2011. 23(25): p. 2779-2795.
- 81. **He, M., et al.,** *Graphene-based transparent flexible electrodes for polymer solar cells.* Journal of Materials Chemistry, 2012. 22(46): p. 24254-24264.
- 82. **Kumar, A. and C. Zhou,** *The Race To Replace Tin-Doped Indium Oxide: Which Material Will Win?* ACS Nano, 2010. 4(1): p. 11-14.
- 83. **Zheng, Q., et al.,** *Graphene oxide-based transparent conductive films.* Progress in Materials Science, 2014. 64(Supplement C): p. 200-247.

- 84. **Kim, K.S., et al.,** *Large-scale pattern growth of graphene films for stretchable transparent electrodes.* Nature, 2009. 457: p. 706.
- 85. Lee, Y. and J.-H. Ahn, *Graphene-Based Transparent Conductive Films*. Nano, 2013. 08(03): p. 1330001.
- 86. Wang, X., L. Zhi, and K. Müllen, *Transparent, Conductive Graphene Electrodes for Dye-Sensitized Solar Cells.* Nano Letters, 2008. 8(1): p. 323-327.
- 87. Li, X., et al., *Transfer of large-area graphene films for high-performance transparent conductive electrodes.* Nano letters, 2009. 9(12): p. 4359-4363.
- 88. **Rana, K., J. Singh, and J.-H. Ahn,** *A graphene-based transparent electrode for use in flexible optoelectronic devices.* Journal of Materials Chemistry C, 2014. 2(15): p. 2646-2656.
- 89. Wang, D.-Y., et al., *Clean-Lifting Transfer of Large-area Residual-Free Graphene Films*. Advanced Materials, 2013. 25(32): p. 4521-4526.
- 90. **Borin Barin, G., et al.,** *Optimized graphene transfer: Influence of polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA) layer concentration and baking time on graphene final performance.* Carbon, 2015. 84(Supplement C): p. 82-90.
- 91. Kang, J., et al., *Graphene transfer: key for applications*. Nanoscale, 2012. 4(18): p. 5527-5537.
- 92. Chen, Y., X.-L. Gong, and J.-G. Gai, *Progress and Challenges in Transfer* of Large-Area Graphene Films. Advanced Science, 2016. 3(8): p. 1500343n/a.
- 93. Yan, Z., et al., Toward the Synthesis of Wafer-Scale Single-Crystal Graphene on Copper Foils. ACS Nano, 2012. 6(10): p. 9110-9117.
- 94. Xue, R., I.H. Abidi, and Z. Luo, Domain size, layer number and morphology control for graphene grown by chemical vapor deposition. Functional Materials Letters, 2017. 10(04): p. 1730003.
- 95. Vlassiouk, I., et al., Role of Hydrogen in Chemical Vapor Deposition Growth of Large Single-Crystal Graphene. ACS Nano, 2011. 5(7): p. 6069-6076.
- 96. **Bhaviripudi, S., et al.,** Role of Kinetic Factors in Chemical Vapor Deposition Synthesis of Uniform Large Area Graphene Using Copper Catalyst. Nano Letters, 2010. 10(10): p. 4128-4133.
- 97. Lin, L., et al., Surface Engineering of Copper Foils for Growing Centimeter-Sized Single-Crystalline Graphene. ACS Nano, 2016. 10(2): p. 2922-2929.
- 98. **Han, G.H., et al.,** *Influence of Copper Morphology in Forming Nucleation Seeds for Graphene Growth.* Nano Letters, 2011. 11(10): p. 4144-4148.
- 99. Soo Min, K., et al., *The effect of copper pre-cleaning on graphene synthesis*. Nanotechnology, 2013. 24(36): p. 365602.
- 100. Vlassiouk, I., et al., Large scale atmospheric pressure chemical vapor deposition of graphene. Carbon, 2013. 54(Supplement C): p. 58-67.
- 101. **Ibrahim, A., et al.,** *Effects of annealing on copper substrate surface morphology and graphene growth by chemical vapor deposition.* Carbon, 2015. 94(Supplement C): p. 369-377.
- 102. **Jin, Y., et al.,** *Roles of H2 in annealing and growth times of graphene CVD synthesis over copper foil.* Journal of Materials Chemistry A, 2014. 2(38): p. 16208-16216.
- 103. **Zhang, X., et al.,** *Hydrogen-induced effects on the CVD growth of highquality graphene structures.* Nanoscale, 2013. 5(18): p. 8363-8366.

- 104. **Ferrari, A.C., et al.,** *Raman Spectrum of Graphene and Graphene Layers.* Physical Review Letters, 2006. 97(18): p. 187401.
- 105. Ferrari, A.C. and J. Robertson, Interpretation of Raman spectra of disordered and amorphous carbon. Physical Review B, 2000. 61(20): p. 14095-14107.
- 106. Frank, O., et al., Raman 2D-Band Splitting in Graphene: Theory and Experiment. ACS Nano, 2011. 5(3): p. 2231-2239.
- 107. Chu, P.K. and L. Li, *Characterization of amorphous and nanocrystalline carbon films*. Materials Chemistry and Physics, 2006. 96(2): p. 253-277.
- 108. Liang, C., et al. Optimization on the synthesis of large-area single-crystal graphene domains by chemical vapor deposition on copper foils. in 2012 International Conference on Manipulation, Manufacturing and Measurement on the Nanoscale (3M-NANO). 2012.
- 109. **Hussain, S., et al.,** *Physical and electrical properties of graphene grown under different hydrogen flow in low pressure chemical vapor deposition.* Nanoscale Research Letters, 2014. 9(1): p. 546.
- 110. **Lavin-Lopez, M.P., et al.,** *Synthesis and characterization of graphene: influence of synthesis variables.* Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics, 2014. 16(7): p. 2962-2970.
- 111. Güneş, F., et al., Large-Area Graphene-Based Flexible Transparent Conducting Films. Nano, 2009. 04(02): p. 83-90.
- 112. **Hussein, S.M., et al.,** *Raman Mapping Analysis of Graphene-Integrated Silicon Micro-Ring Resonators.* Nanoscale Research Letters, 2017. 12: p. 600.
- 113. **Wang, H., et al.,** *Vibrational properties of graphene and graphene layers.* Journal of Raman Spectroscopy, 2009. 40(12): p. 1791-1796.
- 114. Liu, L., et al., *High-Yield Chemical Vapor Deposition Growth of High-Quality Large-Area AB-Stacked Bilayer Graphene*. ACS Nano, 2012. 6(9): p. 8241-8249.
- 115. **Gayathri, S., et al.,** Synthesis of few layer graphene by direct exfoliation of graphite and a Raman spectroscopic study. AIP Advances, 2014. 4(2): p. 027116.
- 116. Venugopal, A., et al., Effective mobility of single-layer graphene transistors as a function of channel dimensions. Journal of Applied Physics, 2011. 109(10): p. 104511.
- 117. **Bolotin, K.I.**, 9 *Electronic transport in graphene: towards high mobility*, in *Graphene*. 2014, Woodhead Publishing. p. 199-227.
- 118. **Chan, S.-H., et al.,** *The deviation of growth model for transparent conductive graphene.* Nanoscale Research Letters, 2014. 9(1): p. 581.
- 119. Sepulveda-Mora, S.B. and S.G. Cloutier, Figures of Merit for High-Performance Transparent Electrodes Using Dip-Coated Silver Nanowire Networks. Journal of Nanomaterials, 2012. 2012: p. 7.
- 120. **Güneş, F., et al.,** *Layer-by-Layer Doping of Few-Layer Graphene Film.* ACS Nano, 2010. 4(8): p. 4595-4600.
- 121. **De, S. and J.N. Coleman,** Are There Fundamental Limitations on the Sheet Resistance and Transmittance of Thin Graphene Films? ACS Nano, 2010. 4(5): p. 2713-2720.
- 122. Georgakilas, V., et al., Functionalization of Graphene: Covalent and Non-Covalent Approaches, Derivatives and Applications. Chemical Reviews, 2012. 112(11): p. 6156-6214.

- 123. Rao, C.N.R., K. Gopalakrishnan, and A. Govindaraj, Synthesis, properties and applications of graphene doped with boron, nitrogen and other elements. Nano Today, 2014. 9(3): p. 324-343.
- 124. **Mao, H.Y., et al.,** *Manipulating the electronic and chemical properties of graphene via molecular functionalization.* Progress in Surface Science, 2013. 88(2): p. 132-159.
- 125. **Mali, K.S., et al.,** *Nanostructuring graphene for controlled and reproducible functionalization.* Nanoscale, 2015. 7(5): p. 1566-1585.
- 126. Liu, H., Y. Liu, and D. Zhu, *Chemical doping of graphene*. Journal of Materials Chemistry, 2011. 21(10): p. 3335-3345.
- 127. Cai, B., et al., Noncovalent Molecular Doping of Two-Dimensional Materials. ChemNanoMat, 2015. 1(8): p. 542-557.
- 128. **Maiti, U.N., et al.,** 25th Anniversary Article: Chemically Modified/Doped Carbon Nanotubes & Graphene for Optimized Nanostructures & Nanodevices. Advanced Materials, 2014. 26(1): p. 40-67.
- Pinto, H. and A. Markevich, Electronic and electrochemical doping of graphene by surface adsorbates. Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnology, 2014.
   p. 1842-1848.
- 130. Love, J.C., et al., Self-Assembled Monolayers of Thiolates on Metals as a Form of Nanotechnology. Chemical Reviews, 2005. 105(4): p. 1103-1170.
- 131. Lee, B., et al., Modification of Electronic Properties of Graphene with Self-Assembled Monolayers. Nano Letters, 2010. 10(7): p. 2427-2432.
- 132. **Yan, Z., et al.,** Controlled Modulation of Electronic Properties of Graphene by Self-Assembled Monolayers on SiO2 Substrates. ACS Nano, 2011. 5(2): p. 1535-1540.
- 133. **Sojoudi, H., et al.,** *Creating Graphene p–n Junctions Using Self-Assembled Monolayers.* ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 2012. 4(9): p. 4781-4786.
- 134. Yagmurcukardes, N., et al., *Effect of aromatic SAMs molecules on graphene/silicon schottky diode performance*. ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology, 2016. 5(7): p. M69-M73.
- 135. **Park, J., et al.,** *Single-Gate Bandgap Opening of Bilayer Graphene by Dual Molecular Doping.* Advanced Materials, 2012. 24(3): p. 407-411.
- 136. **Mattevi, C., H. Kim, and M. Chhowalla,** A review of chemical vapour deposition of graphene on copper. Journal of Materials Chemistry, 2011. 21(10): p. 3324-3334.
- Van Chuc, N., et al., A Simple Approach to the Fabrication of Graphene-Carbon Nanotube Hybrid Films on Copper Substrate by Chemical Vapor Deposition. Journal of Materials Science & Technology, 2015. 31(5): p. 479-483.
- 138. Li, Z., et al., *Deformation of Wrinkled Graphene*. ACS Nano, 2015. 9(4): p. 3917-3925.
- 139. **Dong, X., et al.,** *Doping Single-Layer Graphene with Aromatic Molecules.* Small, 2009. **5**(12): p. 1422-1426.
- 140. **Das, A., et al.,** *Monitoring dopants by Raman scattering in an electrochemically top-gated graphene transistor.* Nature Nanotechnology, 2008. 3: p. 210.
- 141. Silla, J.M., et al., Conformational analysis and intramolecular interactions in monosubstituted phenylboranes and phenylboronic acids. Beilstein Journal of Organic Chemistry, 2013. 9: p. 1127-1134.

- 142. **Hall, D.G.,** *Structure, Properties, and Preparation of Boronic Acid Derivatives. Overview of Their Reactions and Applications, in Boronic Acids.* 2006, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. p. 1-99.
- 143. **Song, H.S., et al.,** *Origin of the relatively low transport mobility of graphene grown through chemical vapor deposition.* Scientific Reports, 2012. 2: p. 337.
- 144. Chen, J.-H., et al., Intrinsic and extrinsic performance limits of graphene devices on SiO2. Nature Nanotechnology, 2008. 3: p. 206.
- 145. Xu, W., et al., *N-Doped Graphene Field-Effect Transistors with Enhanced Electron Mobility and Air-Stability.* Small, 2014. 10(10): p. 1999-2005.
- 146. **Hofmann, M., et al.,** *Dopant morphology as the factor limiting graphene conductivity.* Scientific Reports, 2015. 5: p. 17393.
### **CURRICULUM VITAE**

## **Personal Information**

Gülsüm ERSÜ Izmir Katip Çelebi University, Graduate School Of Natural And Applied Sciences, 35620, Çiğli/İzmir E-mail: <u>gulsumersu@gmail.com</u> Nationality: Turkey Date of birth: May 10, 1989 Languages: Turkish (native language), English,

# **Education History**

2013 - 2018	Ms candidate, Izmir Katip Celebi University, Department of
	Material Science and Engineering, Izmir, TURKEY
	Advisor: Asst. Prof Fethullah Gunes
	Thesis: Enhancement of The Electrical Properties of
	Graphene for Electronic Device
2013-not completed	Ms candidate, Dokuz Eylul University, Department of
	Nanoscience and Nanoengineering, Izmir, TURKEY
	Advisor: Professor Dr. Uğur Malayoğlu
	Thesis: Production and Investigation of Mechanical
	Properties of Graphene,
2009 - 2013	BSc candidate, , Ege University, Faculty of Science, Department
	of Physics, Izmir, TURKEY
	Advisor: Professor Dr. Ahmet Doğan Demirhan
	Thesis: Quantum Mechanically Investigation of Energy
	Bands and Fermi surface of semiconductor
2008 - 2009	English language education, School of Foreign Languages,
	Ege University, Izmir, TURKEY

#### **Scholarships**

- 2008 2013 Undergraduate Scholarship, The Higher Education Credit and Hostels Institution affiliated with the Ministry of Youth and Sports
- 2013-2015 Master Scholarship, The Higher Education Credit and Hostels Institution affiliated with the Ministry of Youth and Sports
- 2014 National Masters Scholarship for Priority Areas, The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (Tubitak) 2210 – C
- 2015 2016 Project Supported Graduate Scholarship, The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (Tubitak) 214M441

## **Experience**

- 1. Graphene Synthesis
  - Large-area graphene film synthesis on metal substrates by chemical vapor deposition, etching & transferring onto desired substrates.
  - Graphene synthesis on carbon fiber by chemical vapor deposition
  - 3D graphene foam synthesis by chemical vapor deposition
  - Graphene production by Ball Milling
- 2. Multiple-layered graphene film preparation
- 3. Doping of graphene films
- 4. Preparation of carbon fiber-graphene composite materials
- 5. Projects
  - TUBITAK-1001, 214M441; Enhancement of the Electrical, Thermal and Mechanical Properties of Aeronautical Composites via Graphene Incorporation,
  - TUBITAK-2232, 115C002; Industrialization of graphene composites for Transparent Conductive Films and Coatings,
  - Izmir Katip Celebi University Scientific Research Projects Coordinatorship Project; 2015-ÖNP-MÜMF-0012, Graphene electronic material synthesis, Bandgap Engineering and Application of Transparent Conductive Film,

- 6. Devices
  - Chemical Vapor Deposition
  - Planetary Ball Milling
  - Confocal Raman Spectroscopy
  - UV-Absorption spectroscopy
  - Atomic Force Microscope (AFM)

### **Conference Papers on the Thesis**

- 1. <u>Ersü G</u>, Güneş F, Modifying the Electrical Properties of Graphene via Chemical Doping, 1st International Students Science Conference, Izmir, Turkey, May 5-6, 2017, p.90, Oral Presentation
- Ersü G, Güneş F, Doping of Graphene Film for Transparent Conducting Film, 5th International Symposium on Innovative Technologies in Engineering and Science (ISITES 2017), Baku, Azerbaijan, 29-30 September 2017, p.1560, Oral Presentation
- 3. <u>Ersü G</u>, Güneş F, Improving the Sheet Resistance of CVD-graphene Films via Doping, 13th Nanoscience & Nanotechnology Conference (Nanotr-13), Antalya, Turkey, 22 25 October 2017, p.146, Oral Presentation

#### **Other Papers**

- 1. Erdem Ç, Ersü G, Güneş F, Malayoğlu U, 3-D Graphene Synthesis with Chemical Vapor Deposition on Nickel Foam, 13th Nanoscience & Nanotechnology Conference (Nanotr-13), Antalya, Turkey, 22 - 25 October 2017, p. 161, Poster Presentation
- Ersü G, Seviğ G, Altay L, İkizler B, Güneş F, Erden S. Enhancement of the Electrical Properties of Carbon/Epoxy Composites via CVD Graphene Incorporation. 3RD Emerging 2D Materials & Graphene Conference, Istanbul, Turkey, October 20-21,2016, p.41, Oral Presentation.
- 3. Ersü G, Seviğ G, Eti M, Altay L, İkizler B, Erden S. Continuous CVD Graphene Growth. International Workshop on Special Topics on Polymeric Composites (POLIKOM), Izmir, Turkey, February 2016, p.126, Oral Presentation.
- 4. Seviğ G, Ersü G, Eti M, İkizler B, Altay L, Erden S. Preparation of CVD Graphene Substrates Via Electroless Copper Plating. International Workshop On Special Topics On Polymeric Composites (POLIKOM), Izmir, Turkey, February 2016, p.147, Oral Presentation
- 5. Eti M, Ersü G, Seviğ G, İkizler B, Altay L, Erden S. Large-Scale Graphene Synthesis By Ball Mining. International Workshop on Special Topics on Polymeric Composites (POLIKOM), Izmir, Turkey, February 2016, p.142, Oral Presentation.
- 6. Erden S, İkizler B, Altay L, Güneş F, Mermer Ö, Yıldız H, Seydibeyoğlu Ö, Seviğ G, Ersü G, Eti M. Enhancement of the Electrical, Thermal And Mechanical Properties Of Aeronautical Composites Via Graphene Incorporation. International Workshop on Special Topics on Polymeric Composites (POLIKOM), Izmir, Turkey, February 2016, Poster Presentation.